Pages: 36

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

ALCATEC, LLC, et al.

Plaintiffs/Appellants

Supreme Court No. 2018-CA-01590

VS.

Hinds County Circuit Court No. 1:15-cv-00131

THE JONES GROUP OF MISSISSIPPI, LLC, et al.

Defendants/Appellees

BRIEF OF APPELLANTS ALCATEC, LLC AND ROSEMARY BARBOUR

Michael A. Heilman (MSB No. 2223) E. Taylor Polk (MSB 103653) HEILMAN LAW GROUP, P.A. Meadowbrook Office Park 4266 I-55 North, Suite 106 Jackson, Mississippi 39211 (601) 914-1025 Telephone: Facsimile: (601) 944-2915 mheilman@heilmanlawgroup.com tpolk@heilmanlawgroup.com

ATTORNEYS FOR ALCATEC, LLC AND ROSEMARY BARBOUR **APPELLANTS**

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

I. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- A. Whether the Hinds County Circuit Court abused its discretion in allowing Defendants to amend their Answer to include collateral estoppel as an affirmative defense after Defendants had actively litigated the case for nearly four years with full knowledge of the purported basis of that affirmative defense.
- B. Whether the court erred in granting Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment, holding that collateral estoppel, combined with the tort doctrine of superseding intervening cause, barred all of Plaintiffs' claims.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case arises from Defendants' failure to provide proper logistical support to Plaintiffs regarding the management and billing of Plaintiffs' contract with FEMA. FEMA contracted with Plaintiffs to inspect and maintain temporary housing units for citizens impacted by Hurricane Katrina. In turn, Plaintiffs contracted with Defendants, paying Defendants large sums of money to ensure that FEMA was properly billed for Plaintiffs' work. Defendants failed to do so, creating a chaotic system that would not properly keep track of billable inspections performed. Defendants prepared the documents used for billing FEMA, and these documents contained hundreds of duplicate lines of inspections. Defendants' failures caused Plaintiffs to lose the FEMA contract and to forfeit millions of dollars thereunder after a Federal Claims Court found that FEMA had been recklessly overbilled for inspections. Plaintiffs filed the present lawsuit seeking damages caused by Defendants' failures.

The court abused its discretion in granting Defendants' motion to amend their Answer -after the parties had actively litigated this case for nearly four years -- to add certain affirmative
defenses, including collateral estoppel. Defendants waived collateral estoppel by failing to plead
it. See M.R.C.P. 8(c); State ex rel. Moore v. Molpus, 578 So. 2d 624, 641 (Miss. 1991) (collateral
estoppel waived); Miss. Public. Serv. Comm'n v. Merchants Truck Line, Inc., 598 So. 2d 778, 780
(Miss. 1992) (res judicata waived). Defendants further waived collateral estoppel by actively
participating in this litigation for years before moving to amend their Answer. See Hutzel v. City

of Jackson, 33 So. 3d 1116, 1119-21 (Miss. 2010) (waiver of right to assert affirmative defenses of release and accord and satisfaction found where defendant did not raise the defenses in its initial answer and waited twenty-six months to raise it, plus both parties filed interrogatories and requests for production of documents and one party noticed a deposition). Furthermore, Defendants knew about the purported basis of collateral estoppel (the Federal Claims Court opinion) throughout this litigation, as Defendant Gennie Jones was a witness in that case, and Defendants have referenced that case since the inception of this litigation.

The court later erred in granting Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment. The court hinged its decision on collateral estoppel, relying on the Federal Claims Court opinion that adjudicated rights and liabilities between Alcatec and the United States. But under Mississippi law, Defendants are not entitled to assert collateral estoppel because they were neither a party nor in privity with a party to that case. *See, e.g., Baker & McKenzie, LLP v. Evans*, 123 So. 3d 387, 401-402 (Miss. 2013); *Smith v. Malouf*, 826 So. 2d 1256, 1260 (Miss. 2002).

And even if Defendants are allowed to assert collateral estoppel, the lower court still erred by applying the affirmative defense of superseding intervening cause to dismiss all of Plaintiffs' claims. Superseding intervening cause is an affirmative defense in tort which may be used to challenge the proximate cause element in a negligence case. Neither Defendants nor the lower court cite any case where a Mississippi court -- or any court -- has applied it to dismiss a breach-of-contract claim or a contractual-indemnity claim. It clearly has no application to an indemnity case like the one at issue. And notably, under Mississippi law, proximate cause is not an element of a breach-of-contract claim, as breach-of-contract claims have only two elements: the existence of a contract, and breach thereof. Effectively, as Plaintiffs pointed out to the lower court, Defendants moved for summary judgment as to Plaintiffs' negligence claim only.

Finally, even if the doctrine of superseding intervening cause could apply to all of Plaintiffs' claims, genuine issues of material fact exist as to whether Plaintiffs' conduct qualifies as such. The doctrine focuses on foreseeability of damages which could flow from the Defendants' act. Certainly a reasonable jury could find that Defendants should have foreseen that their failure to do the job for which they were hired -- to manage the logistics of the FEMA contract and to ensure FEMA was not overbilled -- would cause FEMA to be overbilled and thus cause the exact damages that Plaintiffs now seek to recover from Defendants.

III. STATEMENT OF FACTS

FEMA Contract. In April 2006, Homeland Security and the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) awarded a contract to Alcatec. See FEMA Contract, R. 1081. The FEMA Contract required Alcatec to coordinate the delivery, setup, maintenance, and disconnection of temporary housing for citizens impacted by Hurricane Katrina. See Id.; see also Attachment A thereto, "Performance Work Statement," R. 1141. Alcatec was to be compensated for performing monthly inspections of mobile homes, performing maintenance on the mobile homes, responding to emergency calls on the mobile homes, and deactivating the mobile homes no longer in use. R. 1318-19.

The FEMA Contract also required Alcatec to establish and set up logistics for each aspect of its business. *See* FEMA Contract, R. 1081. To facilitate efficiency in operations and accuracy with respect to billing FEMA, the FEMA Contract required Alcatec to use detailed service protocols, including methods to document and order the setup, maintenance, inspection, and disconnection of mobile homes. *See Id.*

Jones Group Contract. Alcatec elected to hire specialists engaged in the business of coordinating the required logistical efforts to ensure that all aspects of the FEMA Contract were properly met and that the contract was properly billed. Defendant Gennie Jones represented to

Plaintiffs that she and her company, The Jones Group, had the knowledge and experience to provide the services that Plaintiffs needed under the FEMA Contract. *See* Attachment A to Alcatec/Jones Group Contract, R. 1332-1335. Jones assured Plaintiffs that she could run the logistics, manage the demands of the FEMA Contract, and provide accurate and timely documentation for purposes of billing FEMA. *See Id*.

Based on these representations, Alcatec contracted with Jones Group to provide consulting services, establish all protocols required for Alcatec's compliance with the FEMA Contract, establish and execute proper protocols for running the logistics, maintain documentation, enter work orders into a database, provide technology personnel support, provide quality control services, tract work orders, manage inventory, provide preventative maintenance, support dispatch services, track labor hours against work orders, track materials used against work orders, and properly fulfill billing requirements under the FEMA Contract, among other services. *See* Alcatec/Jones Group Contract, R. 1320-37.

Jones Group promised to work diligently and to perform all work in full compliance with the terms and specifications of its agreement with Alcatec as well as the FEMA Contract together with all applicable federal, state, and local laws and regulations. R. 1321. Jones Group promised to meet or exceed all quality control requirements set forth in the Alcatec/Jones Group Contract. R. 1333. In addition to providing logistical information and setting all schedules for service of the FEMA Contract, Jones Group also maintained responsibility for gathering all information required for billing FEMA under the FEMA Contract, verification of billing accuracy, and forwarding of all required billing documents to Alcatec for submission to FEMA. See R. 1320-37.

Mainstream and CrossForms. To meet the obligations of the FEMA Contract, the Jones Group recommended computer hardware and software, including the Mainstream Software CrossForms, and Jones Group maintained responsibility for training. R. 1721. Plaintiffs entered a

contract with Mainstream whereby Mainstream agreed to provide CrossForms. *See* Mainstream Contract, R. 1338-53. Under these respective contracts, Plaintiffs paid The Jones Group and Mainstream substantial sums of money to facilitate satisfactory performance of the FEMA Contract. *See Id*.

The Jones Group/Call Center. It is undisputed that as part of the FEMA Contract, Alcatec was to perform monthly preventative maintenance inspections (PMIs) on mobile home units. Alcatec's inspectors inspected the mobile units along various routes, called a route list. The Jones Group managed the call center, collected information from the inspectors, and entered this information into CrossForms, tracking the life cycles of work orders. The Jones Group made appointments with residents for inspections of their mobile units and upon completion of the inspections, the inspectors sent PMI checklists to the call center so that Jones Group employees could enter this information into CrossForms, including FEMA barcodes for trailers, the addresses of trailers, and the PMI completion date. The Jones Group further reviewed the PMI checklists generated by the inspectors to make sure they were complete and undertook to ensure that no duplicates PMIs were included in CrossForms.

Defendants Breached the Contract. Defendants failed in their duties to support Plaintiffs, committing numerous errors in keeping track of PMIs and work orders for purposes of billing FEMA. Early in the process, Defendants were aware of duplicate inspection submissions, CrossForms' inability to prevent duplicate entries of trailer information and accompanying reports, and other problems. As early as June 2006, there were duplicates in the backup documentation that Defendants prepared for invoicing FEMA. R. 1746. Defendants were responsible for setting up CrossForms and inputting all of the FEMA trailers into a master database. R. 1721. Apparently, however, Defendants did not have enough manpower to enter all the units into CrossForms, so Defendants sent the data to Mainstream to perform a mass data dump. R 1721-23. Defendants

then looked at the database and noticed a lot of information that seemed to be either missing or inaccurate. R. 1723. Defendants did not delete the inaccurate information. R. 1723. Over the next several months, Defendants continued to input information, including information from completed PMI checklists, into CrossForms. R. 1728.

Defendants acknowledge that they agreed to provide the hardware and software support and to work with CrossForms. R. 1726. Defendant Jones was the point of contact for user access with Mainstream and CrossForms. R. 1746. Defendants acknowledge that they agreed to develop and maintain software and hardware to provide all functions required by the company in the FEMA Contract. R. 1727. At the heart of Defendants' operation were tools, such as CrossForms, to manage and track work orders, warranty information, inventory and warehouse management, and review maintenance trends. R. 1729. Defendants' operation included managing and tracking monthly PMIs, and Defendants were aware that a unit could be inspected and billed for only once per month. R. 1729. Defendants were to use CrossForms to help dispatch technicians and independent contractors to the various customer sites and to support PMIs. R. 1729. Defendants prepared the backup information concerning PMIs and periodically sent this information to Plaintiffs for purposes of invoicing FEMA. R. 1730. CrossForms could provide a complete history of PMIs and work orders for any particular unit. R. 1731.

Defendants acknowledge that they agreed to "customerize" and initialize software for Plaintiffs' performance under the FEMA Contract. R. 1732. Yet Defendants never looked into whether any software (e.g., CrossForms) could be customized such that for each unit only a single PMI could be entered on a monthly basis and that the software would reject entry of any other PMIs for that unit in the pertinent time period. R. 1732. As Defendants acknowledge, such customization is possible. R. 1732-33. As Defendants also acknowledge, Defendants represented to Plaintiffs that Defendants would allocate \$75,000 for "customerization and initialization," but

Defendants now cannot say whether they did so, instead admitting that CrossForms is an "off-the-shelf product." R. 1733. This admission contradicts Defendants' earlier promises that CrossForms could be tailored to meet customer needs, including invoicing needs. *See* R. 1334. Furthermore, Defendants did not take care of all the duplicate entries using Microsoft Excel's sorting method after exporting the monthly PMI data there from CrossForms. R. 1734. In the same vein, Defendants cannot say whether they provided even basic Excel training to their employees. R. 1737.

Ultimately, Defendants failed in their job of reviewing the backup documentation that was used to invoice the government, failing to verify that there was no duplicate billing even though Defendants had the ability to sort through the information to check for duplicates. R. 1745. When asked whether there was any reason why Defendants were sending Plaintiffs backup documentation containing duplicates, Defendants now admit that "Nobody's . . . perfect," that "Nothing is 100 percent," and that someone could have missed it when they reviewed it. R. 1745. Defendants admit that there is a high probability of duplicates when relying on humans to input a large number of units into a system without proper quality-assurance measures in place. R. 1746.

Plaintiffs often attempted to communicate with Defendants to straighten out various issues. On August 16, 2006, Jim Oliver with Alcatec emailed Defendant Jones regarding Jones Group reports not being updated properly to reflect certain call-ins. R. 1470. On September 8, 2006, Oliver emailed Jones regarding a re-keying project: "there are some re-key jobs that we have done that are NOT found on this report but they are all listed on the faxed reports I have been recently sending to Jones Grp daily." R. 1469. On September 28, 2006, Jones emailed Felicia Bowens of Jones Group: "THE CMRs (AUGUST 1-15) THAT WERE INVOICE [sic] IN AUGUST WERE MOBILE HOMES NOT TRAVEL TRAILERS. PLEASE VERIFY AND REDO THE SPREADSHEET AND CREATE THE PDF." R. 1467.

An internal Jones Group email from Tracy Buchanan to Jones on November 16, 2006 regarding "Open Ticket Status" provides: "Attached is the spreadsheet with the open Work Orders, the ones that are highlighted in green are the work orders we did not receive from the FEMA Call Center/email. Please advise if additional information needs to be added. P:S [sic] This spread sheet [sic] has not been sent to anyone other than yourself." R. 1429.

On January 17, 2007, Jim Oliver, Chief Operating Officer of Alcatec, sent an email to Jones and Jones Group reminding them of certain requirements of the FEMA Contract. Despite this reminder, Defendants failed to adhere to the contractual requirements, leading to double billing. Felicia Bowens of Jones Group followed up with Plaintiffs the next day, representing to Plaintiffs that Jones Group was in the process of comparing PM dates and determining which PMs to add to certain spreadsheets that Jones Group was preparing. Oliver followed up with Jones Group the next day again to remind Jones Group of certain contractual requirements. R. 1561-63.

On January 19, 2007, Barbour emailed Jones regarding the invoice for November 15-30, where Barbour pointed out several problems to Jones concerning Jones Group's duplicate billing. Jones forward the email to Bowens, telling Bowens "We need to take a look at this." R. 1397. In addition, Oliver continued to communicate with Jones regarding Alcatec's need for Defendants to sort work orders on a spreadsheet. R. 1403. Barbour also continually tried to get Jones to fix problems with Defendants' system. R. 1406. In a January 2, 2007 email to A.J. Hughes, Oliver discussed his efforts to try to straighten things out with Jones:

I discussed the tracking of PM completions with Gennie today and they will track the number of PMs completed each time the tech calls and then tally a total for that day. After the review and confirmation of completed work orders that we are still conducting in Jackson, we decided that the techs should also include the Bar Code of each PM they complete when they call in. The tracking of completed PMs should be done by tech and Bar Code for accounting and tracking purposes.

R. 1408. The next day, on January 3, 2007, Oliver had to reach out to Bowens about Defendants' invoicing practice for certain items. R. 1409.

Again on January 19, 2007, Barbour had to email Jones requesting excel spreadsheets for CLIN 1001 and 1002 for all of October 2006. R. 1474. In these emails, Barbour also pointed out more of Jones Group's errors. Jones apologized for Jones Group's "error." R. 1491-95. On January 21, 2007, Barbour emailed Jones Group pointing out Jones Group's errors in the CLIN Report totals. R. 1489. On February 5, 2007, shortly after Defendants abandoned ship, Barbour reached out to Jones Group regarding the spreadsheets that Jones Group was required to prepare for January 2007. Bowens responded that Jones Group had not prepared any spreadsheets for January. R. 1542.

Jones Group's failures caused FEMA to be double billed for duplicate inspections. On November 24, 2006, Barbour emailed Jones Group telling Jones Group to delete duplicate items and to make sure Jones Group was not double billing FEMA. R. 1499. Barbour again emailed Jones Group on November 29, 2006 pointing out Jones Group's errors in not deleting certain work orders. R. 1496. Likewise, even as early as August 2006, Barbour had to tell Jones Group to take out work orders, emphasizing that "We cannot invoice twice for the same TT." *See* R. 1505, 07. On December 19, 2006, Jones Group emailed Oliver explaining that Jones Group was in the process of "scrubbing" lists to remove sites with no trailer. R. 1526. On January 18, 2007, Bowens emailed Barbour discussing moving PMs from January to December. R. 1565. The next day, Oliver had to email Bowens trying to get Jones Group to compare and confirm a PM count for a certain time period. R. 1644. Likewise, on January 30, 2007, Oliver had to email Bowens in an attempt to get MDC reports to send to FEMA. R. 1652.

Jones Group's errors and delays came to a head in December 2006, a critical period in this case's timeline. On December 20, 2006, Bowens had to apologize to Barbour regarding the Jones Group's delays. R. 1578. On December 28, 2006, Jones had to apologize for another error, explaining that Jones Group was "truly sorry" for the error that Barbour pointed out on a CLIN

report that Jones Group had prepared. R. 1575. On December 30, 2006, Jones Group again emailed Barbour apologizing for Jones Group's delays, noting that Jones Group understood that Barbour might feel "frustrated" due to Jones Group's delays. R. 1571. This email also further reinforces the fact that Jones Group was responsible for entering data into CrossForms. R. 1571. Finally, Jones Group's December 2006 PM Status Report shows hundreds of duplicates. R. 1557. Defendants acknowledge that sorting the December 2006 PMIs by barcode, which Defendants had the power to do, reveals many duplicates in the documentation sent to FEMA for billing. R. 1751-52.

The Jones Group Resigns. Rather than rectify their failures, Defendants sent their 90-day notice of resignation to Alcatec on January 9, 2007. At this point, despite Defendants' multiple representations to Plaintiff that they would provide a competent system to monitor the federal contract, including the submission of duplicates in CrossForms, and despite multiple payments made to both Defendants and CrossForms, the Jones Group handed over a broken system that would not even prevent duplicate information from being entered into the system. The CrossForms system recommended by and controlled by the Jones Group had no safeguards in place to prevent duplicate billings, much less prevent the same barcode for the same trailer from being twice uploaded in the system. Even with the ability to customize the system to Alcatec's needs, the Jones Group failed to do so.

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