Pages: 31

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CAUSE NO. 2018-CA-01590

ALCATEC, LLC AND ROSEMARY BARBOUR

APPELLANTS

VS.

THE JONES GROUP OF MISSISSIPPI, LLC AND GENIE LACEY JONES

APPELLEES

BRIEF OF APPELLEES, THE JONES GROUP, LLC AND GENIE LACEY JONES

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

Prepared by:

Jay M. Atkins, MS 100513
Candice C. Hargett, MS 101735
McAngus, Goudelock and Courie, LLC
119 North 9th Street
Oxford, Mississippi 38655
(662) 281-7828
(662) 259-8460 (Fax)
candice.hargett@mgclaw.com
jay.atkins@mgclaw.com
Attorneys for The Jones Group, LLC and
Genie Lacey Jones

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The lower court did not abuse its discretion in allowing Jones to amend the Answer to include the defenses of res judicata and/or collateral estoppel. At the inception of the lawsuit, it was not known whether Alcatec planned to pursue the same theory of liability in the state court case as it pursued in the federal case. Accordingly, written discovery was needed to confirm Alcatec's specific allegations against Jones, as well as the evidentiary proof regarding same. Once written discovery was complete, it became evidently clear that Alcatec planned to pursuet the same arguments to the state court. Moreover, Alcatec planned to rely upon on the exact same documents produced in the federal court case. Promptly after receipt and review of Alcatec's final document production, counsel for Jones contacted counsel for Alcatec and advised of the plan to seek leave to amend the Answer to include the defenses of res judicata and/or collateral estoppel. Counsel for Alcatec advised in writing that he had no objection to the request to amend. Only later did Alcatec file a Response in Opposition to the Motion to Amend.

Further, there is Mississippi precedence establishing that discovery may be needed in some matters prior to pursing an affirmative defense, as long as the discovery is conducted in a reasonable amount of time. *Doe v. Rankin County School District*, 189 So. 3d 616 (Miss. 2015 Jones did not delay in initiating written discovery after the interlocutory appeal was denied. However, Alcatec delayed the process by not providing complete discovery responses until over eight months after they were due and only after two Motions to Compel were filed. Based upon the unusual circumstances of the case, prior precedence, and the application of the "when justice so requires" provision of Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 15, the lower court's ruling to allow Jones to amend its Answer was a reasonable option, and there was no abuse of discretion.

Moreover, the lower court did not err in finding that the doctrine of defense collateral estoppel precluded Alcatec from relitigating a single issue: that Barbour perpetrated a fraudulent scheme to submit duplicate invoices to the Government for payment. Alcatec's sole argument on appeal is that Jones was not a party, or in privity with any party, in the federal case so collateral estoppel does not apply. Notably, Alcatec does not dispute that the issue of whether Barbour knowingly committed fraud against the Government was litigated and determined by the Court of Federal Claims and/or that this issue was essential to the judgment in the federal action.

Alcatec's argument that Jones was not in privity with a party in the federal case fails as Jones was a central witness for the Government, Alcatec's adversary, and provided testimony to substantiate the Government's claim that Barbour perpetrated a fraud. Jones' relationship to the Government passed "technical muster" for the privity requirement. [ROA. 1777]. Once defensive collateral estoppel is applied on the fraud issue, all of Alcatec's claims against Jones fail, and summary judgement is appropriate.

Lastly, Barbour's fraudulent conduct is the intervening and superseding cause of Alcatec's damages. The damages sought include Alcatec's forfeiture of over \$3.8 million under the FEMA contract and imposition of penalties. The conduct that resulted in these damages is directly attributable to Barbour's fraudulent scheme and independent of any actions and/or inactions on the part of Jones.

ARGUMENT AND AUTHORITIES

I. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN GRANTING THE MOTION TO AMEND ANSWER AS JONES DID NOT DELAY IN SEEKING AMENDMENT AFTER THE CONCLUSION OF NECESSARY WRITTEN DISCOVERY.

Rule 15 of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure sets forth that a party may amend a pleading by leave of court or upon written consent of the adverse party and further sets forth that leave shall be freely granted when justice so requires. Miss. R. Civ. P. 15. This Court reviews the trial court's decision to grant or deny a motion to amend a pleading for abuse of discretion. *Hutzel v. City of Jackson*, 33 So. 3d 1116, 1119 (¶ 10) (Miss. 2010). In determining whether there was an abuse of discretion, the Court first determines whether the trial court "applied the correct legal standard" and then "consider[s] whether the decision was one of those several reasonable ones which could have been made." *Burkett v. Burkett*, 537 So. 2d 443, 446 (Miss. 1989). Accordingly, "the trial court's exercise of its discretion may be disturbed only where it has been abused." *Guar. Nat'l Ins. Co. v. Pittman*, 501 So. 2d 377, 388 (Miss. 1987).

Jones initially filed an Answer denying all claims, and specifically reserving the right to amend the Answer to include additional affirmative defenses which may become available during discovery. [ROA.65, 68]. Thereafter, Jones pursued early dismissal based upon a statute of limitations defense, including a petition for interlocutory appeal on this issue which was denied on May 18, 2016. [ROA.8]. Shortly thereafter, Jones initiated written discovery to obtain specific information regarding the general allegations raised by Alcatec against Jones in the Complaint. [ROA.8-9, 657]. Due to Alcatec's delay, it took over eight (8) months to obtain complete discovery responses. After review of the responses and document production, it became evidently clear that Alcatec did not have any new information and/or evidence against Jones that was not previously argued and presented to the federal court. [ROA.927-30]. No new witnesses and/or experts were identified, and no new documents were produced. Accordingly,

counsel for Jones advised counsel for Alcatec that Jones planned to petition the court to amend their Answer to include the affirmative defenses of res judicata and/or collateral estoppel. [ROA.932]. Counsel for Alcatec reported, in writing, that there was no objection to the amendment. [ROA.1007]. However, after the Motion was filed, Alcatec changed its position and filed a response in opposition. [ROA.799, 817].

Jones submits that the trial court did not abuse its discretion by allowing amendment of the Answer to include the additional affirmative defenses. First and foremost, Alcatec's counsel agreed in writing to the amendment before later changing his position. Secondly, Rule 15 allows a party to amend a pleading when justice so requires. As discussed above, it was not clear until complete discovery responses were received that Alcatec planned to pursue the exact same arguments regarding CrossForms and Jones as it had previously presented to the federal court. Moreover, they planned to rely upon the exact same documents produced in the federal court case. Once Alcatec's positon was confirmed, Jones did not delay in seeking to amend its Answer. It is also important to note that during the time that written discovery was ongoing and the Motion to Amend was pending, no depositions were taken.

Alcatec's reliance on this Court's prior ruling in *Hutzel v. City of Jackson*, 33 So. 3d 1116 (Miss. 2010), is misplaced. *Hutzel* is factually distinguishable. The City sought to make street improvements and needed land that was subject to a leasehold held by Hutzel. *Hutzel*, 33 So. 3d at 1117 (¶ 2). The City approached Hutzel and obtained a quitclaim deed from him conveying his interest in the property to the City in consideration for payment of \$2,500.00. *Id.* The deed was drafted by the City and contained a general release provision. *Id.* (¶ 3). Later Hutzel alleged damages to his business due to the road project. *Id.* at 1118 (¶ 5). Although the City drafted the quit claim deed, which included the release provision claims, the City did not

raise the defenses of release and accord and satisfaction. Id. (¶ 7). Over two years later, the City sought to amend the answer to include the defenses but did not identify any unusual and/or extreme circumstances to explain the failure to assert the defenses earlier. Id. at 1120 (¶ 16). Unlike Jones, the City did not need to conduct discovery in order to determine whether these defenses were applicable because the quitclaim deed spoke for itself, and the City was aware of the deed at the inception of the lawsuit.

At the inception of this lawsuit, it was not known by Jones whether Alcatec had identified new evidence and/or planned to purse a different theory of liability Jones than previously presented to the federal court. It was only after written discovery was complete that Jones confirmed that Alcatec planned to submit the exact same arguments and evidence as previously presented to the federal court. This case presented unusual circumstances that required the completion of discovery before pursuing the defense of collateral estoppel.

The facts in this case are more analogous to the facts in *Doe v. Rankin County School District*, 189 So. 3d 616 (Miss. 2015). In *Doe*, the Supreme Court held that the defendant did not waive its immunity defense by waiting for almost two (2) years before filing a motion for summary judgment asserting discretionary function immunity as the case necessitated thorough discovery which the Defendant took a reasonable time to conduct. *Id.* at 620 (¶ 14). Moreover, the Court explained that *Doe* was distinguishable from *MS Credit Center v. Horton*, 926 So. 2d 167 (Miss. 2006), as *Horton* involved a defendant's right to compel arbitration and did not require discovery in determining so as the defense was evident at the inception of the lawsuit. *Id.* Likewise, in the current case, written discovery was needed in order to establish the applicability of the defenses of res judicata and/or collateral estoppel.

Moreover, a lengthy delay typically is not enough to constitute waiver of an affirmative defense. *MS Credit Cetner, Inc. v. Horton*, 926 So. 2d 167, 180 (¶ 41) (Miss. 2006). There must

be a "substantial and unreasonable delay coupled with active participation in the litigation process." *Id.* at 180 (¶ 42) (emphasis added). Jones did not delay in initiating written discovery in this matter to determine Alcatec's specific allegations against Jones, and further, did not delay in moving to amend the Answer once written discovery was complete. The only substantial and unreasonable delay was Alcatec's dilatory efforts in responding to the discovery requests. Additionally, it is important to note that depositions were not taken and trial had not been set prior to Jones' seeking leave and amending its Answer. The lower court applied the correct legal standard in this matter, and the decision to allow the amendment was one of those several reasonable ones that could have been made based upon the facts presented; therefore, there was no abuse of discretion.

II. THE LOWER COURT DID NOT ERR IN COLLATERALLY ESTOPPING APPELLANTS FROM RELITIGATING THE SEMINAL ISSUE THAT WAS BEFORE THE UNDERLYING COURT OF FEDERAL CLAIMS ACTION.

The collateral estoppel doctrine is used to preclude parties "from relitigating the specific issues actually litigated, determined by, and essential to the judgment in a former action, even though a different cause of action is the subject of the subsequent action." *Baker & McKenzie*, *LLP v. Evans*, 123 So. 3d 387, 401-402 (¶49) (Miss. 2013). In *Gibson v. Williams*, *Williams & Montgomery*, *P.A.*, this Court summarized Mississippi authority regarding collateral estoppel:

The doctrine of collateral estoppel – often considered a cousin of res judicata – serves a "dual purpose" and "protects litigants from the burden of re-litigating an identical issue with the same party or his privy" and "promotes judicial economy by preventing needless litigation. Collateral estoppel is an unusual exception to the general rule that all fact questions should be litigated fully in each case. Collateral estoppel precludes relitigating a specific issue, which as (1) actually litigated in the former action; and (2) determined by the former action; and (3) essential to the judgment in the former action.

_

⁶ These decisions are made on a case by case basis. *Id.* at 181.

186 So. 3d 836, 845-46 (¶¶21-22) (Miss. 2016). The Court also noted that where there is suspicion regarding the reliability of these first fact-findings, collateral estoppel should never be applied. *Id.* at 845-846. Moreover, courts are granted "**broad discretion**" when applying the doctrine of collateral estoppel. *Marcum v. Miss. Valley Gas Co., Inc.*, 672 So. 2d 730, 733 (Miss. 1996) (emphasis added) (*citing Parklane Hosiery Co. v. Shore*, 439 U.S. 322 (1979)).

Alcatec does not dispute that the issue of whether Barbour perpetuated a fraudulent scheme to submit duplicate invoices to FEMA for payment was litigated and determined in the former action. Moreover, Alcatec does not seek appellate review of whether this specific issue was essential to the judgment in the former action. Instead Alcatec argues that the lower Court unfittingly applied the doctrine of collateral estoppel because Jones was not a party – or in privity with a party – to the Court of Federal Claims action.⁷ [Appellant Br., pp. 20, 22].⁸

The basis of Appellant's appeal regarding the lower Court's granting of summary judgment requires a two-step analysis. First, it must be determined whether the doctrine of collateral estoppel was applicable for defensive use by Appellees. If proper, this Court must review de novo whether summary judgment was warranted as to all claims *based upon* the fact that Appellant Barbour's own actions of perpetuating a fraudulent scheme superseded any wrongdoing or breach of Appellees. *See Baker & McKenzie, LLP*, 123 So. 3d at 401 (¶49).

A. The Doctrine of Defensive Collateral Estoppel Was Appropriate As The Privity Requirement Was Met.

The collateral-estoppel doctrine precludes parties "from relitigating the specific issues actually litigated, determined by, and essential to the judgment in a former action, even though a different cause of action is the subject of the subsequent action." *Baker & McKenzie LLP*, 123 So. 3d at 401 (¶49). The collateral estoppel doctrine may be used offensively or

⁷ Alcatec made this same argument before the lower Court and were unsuccessful. [ROA.1772].

defensively. Offensive collateral estoppel refers to circumstances in which "a plaintiff is seeking to estop a defendant from relitigating the issues which the defendant previously litigated and lost against another plaintiff." *Parklane Hosiery Co.*, 439 U.S. at 329. Defensive collateral estoppel refers to circumstances in which "a plaintiff was estopped from asserting a claim that the plaintiff had previously litigated and lost against another defendant." *Id.* "In both the offensive and defensive use situations, the party against whom estoppel is asserted has litigated and lost in an earlier action." *Id.*

The lower court held defensive collateral estoppel applies to prevent Alactec from relitigating the fraud issue that Alcatec previously litigated and lost following an eight-day trial in the Court of Federal Claims. Alcatec argues that Jones was not in privity with a party in the federal trial and that the lower court erroneously analogized the present case to *Jordan* and *McCoy* because those cases involved adversarial relationships in the prior litigation. However, *Jordan* and *McCoy* are not substantively distinguishable from the present matter as Jones was also in an adversarial position to Alcatec at the federal trial.

"For a nonparty to be considered in privity, the nonparty must be 'connected with [the former action] in their interests [and be] affected by the judgment with reference to interest involved in the action, as if they were parties." *Baker & McKenzie LLP*, 123 So. 3d at 401-402 (¶ 49) (quoting Little v. V & G Welding Supply, Inc., 704 So. 2d 1336, 1339 (Miss. 1997)). "Privity is...a broad concept, which requires [the Court] to look to the surrounding circumstances to determine whether claim preclusion is justified." *Little*, 704 So. 2d at 1339. For a nonparty to be considered in privity, the nonparty must be "connected with [the former

⁹ Jordan v. McKenna, 573 So. 2d 1371 (Miss. 1990) and McCoy v. Colonial Baking Co., Inc., 572 So. 2d 850 (Miss. 1990).

action] in their interests [and be] affected by the judgment with reference to interest involved in the action, as if they were parties." *Id*.

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